

MAINE STATE LEGISLATURE

The following document is provided by the
LAW AND LEGISLATIVE DIGITAL LIBRARY
at the Maine State Law and Legislative Reference Library
<http://legislature.maine.gov/lawlib>



Reproduced from scanned originals with text recognition applied
(searchable text may contain some errors and/or omissions)

ACTS AND RESOLVES

AS PASSED BY THE

One Hundred and Fourth Legislature

OF THE

STATE OF MAINE

Published by the Director of Legislative Research in accordance with
the Revised Statutes of 1964, Title 3, Section 164, Subsection 6.

THE KNOWLTON AND MCLEARY COMPANY
FARMINGTON, MAINE
1969

PUBLIC LAWS
OF THE
STATE OF MAINE
AS PASSED BY THE
One Hundred and Third Legislature
AT THE
SPECIAL SESSIONS

October 2-3, 1967
January 9-26, 1968
September 18, 1968

~~Fund on an hourly basis equal to their present rate of employment as determined and ordered for payment by the District Court Judge District Court Fund until July 1, 1969, and thereafter the General Fund and receive the same fee as any other witnesses.~~

Sec. 2. R. S., T. 4, § 173, sub-§ 4, amended. The last sentence of the 4th paragraph of subsection 4 of section 173 of Title 4 of the Revised Statutes, as enacted by chapter 244 of the public laws of 1967, is amended to read as follows:

The Treasurer of State shall pay the municipality a flat fee of \$20 each day the latter's ~~arresting~~ police officers or constables are required to attend the District Court.

Effective April 26, 1968

Chapter 522

AN ACT Increasing Fees for Copies in Office of Register of Probate.

Be it enacted by the People of the State of Maine, as follows:

R. S., T. 18, § 552, sub-§ 3, amended. Subsection 3 of section 552 of Title 18 of the Revised Statutes is amended to read as follows:

3. **Copies.** Making copies from the records of the court, ~~50c~~ \$1 for the first page plus ~~25c~~ 50c for each additional page; except the charge for furnishing to the executor or administrator one copy of each will proved shall be ~~50c~~ \$1.

Effective April 26, 1968

Chapter 523

AN ACT to Clarify the Law Relating to Truth-in-Lending and Disclosure of Interest and Finance Charges in Retail Sales.

Emergency preamble. Whereas, Acts of the Legislature do not become effective until 90 days after adjournment unless enacted as emergencies; and

Whereas, the laws relating to truth-in-lending and disclosure of interest and finance charges in retail sales have resulted in confusion and misunderstanding by those who daily conduct business under said laws; and

Whereas, the following legislation is vitally necessary in order to prevent undue hardship on the people of the State of Maine; and

Whereas, in the judgment of the Legislature, these facts create an emergency within the meaning of the Constitution of Maine, and require the following legislation as immediately necessary for the preservation of the public peace, health and safety; now, therefore,

Be it enacted by the People of the State of Maine, as follows:

Sec. 1. R. S., T. 9, § 3402, sub-§ 13, additional. Section 3402 of Title 9 of the Revised Statutes, as amended by section 2 of chapter 306 of the public laws of 1965, is further amended by adding a new subsection 13, to read as follows:

13. True interest rate. "True interest rate" means the simple annual interest on the scheduled declining time balance of a retail installment contract. Where such true interest rate is to be disclosed, it shall be disclosed in the same manner as is required by section 3851, subsection 19.

Sec. 2. R. S., T. 9, § 3481, sub-§ 1, ¶ E, additional. Subsection 1 of section 3481 of Title 9 of the Revised Statutes is amended by adding a new paragraph E, to read as follows:

E. The printed material explaining the interest rate disclosure required by subsection 2, paragraph I shall be printed in at least 12 point bold-face type.

Sec. 3. R. S., T. 9, § 3481, sub-§ 2, ¶ I, additional. Subsection 2 of section 3481 of Title 9 of the Revised Statutes is amended by adding a new paragraph I, to read as follows:

I. The percentage that the finance charge bears to the principal balance, expressed upon the basis of a true interest rate.

Sec. 4. R. S., T. 9, § 3722, sub-§ 15, additional. Section 3722 of Title 9 of the Revised Statutes, as enacted by section 1 of chapter 501 of the public laws of 1965 and amended by section 8 of chapter 494 of the public laws of 1967, is further amended by adding a new subsection 15, to read as follows:

15. True interest rate. "True interest rate" means the simple annual interest on the scheduled declining time balance of a retail installment contract. Where such true interest rate is to be disclosed, it shall be disclosed in the same manner as is required by section 3851, subsection 19.

Sec. 5. R. S., T. 9, § 3727, sub-§ 9, additional. Section 3727 of Title 9 of the Revised Statutes, as enacted by section 1 of chapter 501 of the public laws of 1965, is amended by adding a new subsection 9, to read as follows:

9. Percentage. The percentage that the credit service charge bears to the principal balance, expressed upon the basis of a true interest rate.

Sec. 6. R. S., T. 9, § 3727, amended. Section 3727 of Title 9 of the Revised Statutes, as enacted by section 1 of chapter 501 of the public laws of 1965, is amended by adding at the end a new paragraph to read as follows:

The printed material explaining the interest rate disclosure required by subsection 9 shall be printed in at least 12 point bold-face type.

Sec. 7. R. S., T. 9, § 3801, sub-§ 3, amended. The 2nd sentence of subsection 3 of section 3801 of Title 9 of the Revised Statutes, as enacted by chapter 472 of the public laws of 1967, is amended to read as follows:

The term does not include ~~home real estate~~ mortgage or other credits in which the finance charge is not precomputed and stated as a dollar amount but is determined by the periodic application of a rate of finance charge to outstanding balances of the credit.

Sec. 8. R. S., T. 9, § 3801, sub-§ 12, amended. The first sentence of subsection 12 of section 3801 of Title 9 of the Revised Statutes, as enacted by chapter 472 of the public laws of 1967, is amended to read as follows:

“Permitted charges” means charges for services, expenses or the like related to a credit transaction, not in excess of amounts permitted by applicable law, if any, which are requested, agreed to or approved by the debtor for official fees or taxes; for insurance; for delinquency or collection or which otherwise arise by reason of action or default of the debtor; in ~~home real estate~~ mortgage credits, customary brokers’ fees and reasonable charges incurred for appraisal of the property, examination of title and the marketability of security, drafting of security instruments or documents and other ~~customary~~ closing costs which are customary for the type of real estate mortgage credit being extended; in real estate mortgage credits insured or guaranteed by a governmental agency, an origination fee not to exceed 1% of the credit extended; service charges in a construction mortgage credit secured by a real estate mortgage; or which are of value to the debtor separate and apart from the granting of credit, are reasonable in relation to benefits to the debtor and constitute a type of charge or actual charges which have been filed with the commissioner and as to which the commissioner has failed to notify the creditor in writing of objection within 60 days after the filing.

Sec. 9. R. S., T. 9, § 3803, amended. Section 3803 of Title 9 of the Revised Statutes, as enacted by chapter 472 of the public laws of 1967, is amended to read as follows:

§ 3803. Transactions not included

Notwithstanding section 3802, this chapter shall not apply to credit transactions with respect to which the ~~debt is secured by collateral consisting of accounts receivable, business equipment or inventory and the value of the collateral is equal to a substantial part of the amount of the debt secured~~ proceeds of the loan are intended to be used primarily in the business or profession of the debtor.

Sec. 10. R. S., T. 9, § 3805, sub-§ 3, amended. The first paragraph of subsection 3 of section 3805 of Title 9 of the Revised Statutes, as enacted by chapter 472 of the public laws of 1967, is amended to read as follows:

~~It~~ When a deferment or extension charge is made in a closed end credit transaction in which the due date of all or part of one or more installments is deferred or extended or in which the unpaid installments are restated or rescheduled to reduce or rearrange the installment payments, the creditor shall give the debtor the following information at or before the time the extension or deferment is made:

Sec. 11. R. S., T. 9, § 3807, amended. The first sentence of section 3807 of Title 9 of the Revised Statutes, as enacted by chapter 472 of the public laws of 1967, is amended to read as follows:

If a credit transaction subject to this chapter is neither a closed end nor a revolving credit transaction, the creditor shall furnish to the debtor prior to or as a part of the consummation of the transaction a statement of disclosure of the finance charge rate in terms of a simple annual interest rate in 12-point boldface type, **or, if the finance charge consists of a single charge of \$10 or less, a statement of disclosure of the amount of finance charge in 12-point boldface type.**

Sec. 11-A. R. S., T. 9, § 3807, amended. Section 3807 of Title 9 of the Revised Statutes, as enacted by chapter 472 of the public laws of 1967, is amended by adding at the end the following new sentence:

In any credit transaction in which part of the finance charge is determined by the periodic application of a rate of finance charge to outstanding balances of the credit and the remainder of the finance charge is precomputed, the percentage required to be disclosed by this section or by section 3805, subsection 1, paragraph G may be computed by adding to the rate of finance charge applied to outstanding balances of the credit the percentage that the precomputed portion of the finance charge bears to the principal balance computed in accordance with the annual finance charge formula, or an annual rate formula approved by the commissioner upon application of a creditor.

Sec. 11-B. R. S., T. 9, § 3810, sub-§ 1, amended. The first sentence of subsection 1, of section 3810 of Title 9 of the Revised Statutes, as enacted by chapter 472 of the public laws of 1967, is amended to read as follows:

Any creditor who in connection with any transaction subject to this chapter fails to disclose to any person any information in violation of this chapter or any regulation issued thereunder shall be liable to such person in the amount of \$50, or in an amount equal to twice the finance charge required by such creditor in connection with such transaction, whichever is greater, except that such liability shall not exceed \$1,000 on any transaction **and provided that no creditor shall be in violation of any provision of this chapter on or before May 1, 1968 and that no action shall be brought for any alleged violation occurring on or before such date.**

Sec. 12. R. S., T. 9, § 3810, sub-§ 1, amended. The 3rd sentence of subsection 1 of section 3810 of Title 9 of the Revised Statutes, as enacted by chapter 472 of the public laws of 1967, is amended to read as follows:

In any such action, no person shall be entitled to recover such penalty ~~solely~~ as the result of ~~erroneous computation~~ **misstatement** of any percentage required by this chapter, if the percentage disclosed was in fact greater than the percentage required to be disclosed by this chapter, or if **solely as the result of erroneous computation**, the percentage disclosed was in fact less than the percentage required to be disclosed, but the difference between the rate disclosed and the rate required is not greater than 1% annually computed on the basis of the true interest rate.

Sec. 13. R. S., T. 9, § 3851, sub-§§ 16-17, repealed and replaced. Subsections 16 and 17 of section 3851 of Title 9 of the Revised Statutes, as enacted by chap-

ter 471 of the public laws of 1967, are repealed and the following enacted in place thereof:

16. **Statement in writing.** "Statement in writing" means either a separate written statement or a written statement set forth in a retail installment sale agreement, revolving credit agreement, or agreement for the consolidation of retail installment sale agreements.

17. **Time balance.** "Time balance" means the total of the cash sale price, the charge for any insurance, the amount of official fees, if any, and the finance charge, reduced by the amount of any down payment.

18. **Time sale price.** "Time sale price" means the total of the cash sale price, the charge for any insurance, the amount of official fees, if any, and the finance charge.

19. **True interest rate.** "True interest rate" means the simple annual interest on the scheduled declining time balance of a retail installment sale agreement. "True interest rate" means either the monthly or simple annual rate on the outstanding balance of a revolving credit agreement.

Where applicable, interest rate disclosure which uses the following methods of computation shall be deemed to disclose in terms of a true interest rate:

A. In a retail installment sale agreement where all scheduled installments are equal and payable at equal intervals, the rate of simple annual interest on the declining balance is expressed by the formula:

$$R = \frac{2PC}{A(N + 1)}$$

R equals the percentage rate. P equals the number of payment periods in one year, where payments are scheduled at equal intervals, always 12 if monthly payments, 4 if quarterly payments and 52 if weekly payments. C equals the finance charge. A equals the principal balance. N equals the number of installments. In disclosure of rates, a variance tolerance of 1% per year in the percentage rate is authorized in computation under this formula.

B. In a retail installment sale agreement where all scheduled payments are of substantially equal amount, but not payable at equal intervals, the rate of simple annual interest on the declining balance is expressed by the formula:

$$R = \frac{2PC}{AN}$$

R, P, C, A and N have the same definitions as in paragraph A. In disclosure of rates, a variance tolerance of 1% per year in the percentage rate is authorized in computation under this formula.

C. In a revolving credit agreement, either the monthly rate or a simple annual rate may be disclosed. If a monthly rate is disclosed, the disclosure statement must contain the words "interest will be charged at a rate of (number) per cent per month," and the words "per month" must be in bold-

face type of the same or larger size as the remainder of the disclosure statement. If a simple annual rate is disclosed, the rate shall be computed either by multiplying the periodic rate or charge by the number of payment periods in a year or by an annual rate formula approved by the commissioner upon application by a seller.

Sec. 14. R. S., T. 9, § 3852, sub-§ 1, amended. The first paragraph of subsection 1 of section 3852 of Title 9 of the Revised Statutes, as enacted by chapter 471 of the public laws of 1967, is amended to read as follows:

Any installment seller shall furnish to ~~each person to whom credit is extended~~ the installment buyer, or if there is more than one installment buyer to one of them, either prior to or at the time of the consummation of the any transaction, a clear statement in writing conspicuously setting forth, to the extent applicable and in accordance with the requirements of this chapter, the following information:

Sec. 15. R. S., T. 9, § 3852, sub-§ 1, ¶¶ A & E, amended. Paragraphs A and E of subsection 1 of section 3852 of Title 9 of the Revised Statutes, as enacted by chapter 471 of the public laws of 1967, are amended to read as follows:

- A. The cash sale price of the ~~property~~ goods or service to be acquired;
- E. The amount of official fees ~~individually itemized~~;

Sec. 16. R. S., T. 9, § 3852, sub-§ 2, ¶ A, amended. The first sentence of paragraph A of subsection 2 of section 3852 of Title 9 of the Revised Statutes, as enacted by chapter 471 of the public laws of 1967, is amended to read as follows:

Furnish to such person, prior to or at the time of agreeing to extend credit under such agreement, a clear statement in writing conspicuously setting forth the true interest rate or rates at which a finance charge will be imposed ~~on the outstanding balance~~ at the end of each period on which a payment is required on the outstanding balance.

Sec. 17. R. S., T. 9, § 3852, sub-§ 2, ¶ B, sub-¶ (6), amended. Subparagraph (6) of paragraph B of subsection 2 of section 3852 of Title 9 of the Revised Statutes, as enacted by chapter 471 of the public laws of 1967, is amended to read as follows:

- (6) The true interest rate or rates at which the finance charge is imposed at the end of such period on the outstanding balance ~~at the end of such period~~.

Sec. 18. R. S., T. 9, § 3855, amended. Section 3855 of Title 9 of the Revised Statutes, as enacted by chapter 471 of the public laws of 1967, is amended by adding at the end the following new sentence:

A statement in any advertisement of a rate greater than the true interest rate shall be deemed a compliance with this section.

Sec. 18-A. R. S., T. 9, § 3857, sub-§ 1, amended. The first sentence of subsection 1 of section 3857 of Title 9 of the Revised Statutes, as enacted by chapter 471 of the public laws of 1967, is amended to read as follows:

Any seller who in connection with any transaction subject to this chapter fails to disclose to any person any information in violation of this chapter or any regulation issued thereunder shall be liable to such person in the amount of \$50, or in an amount equal to twice the finance charge required by such seller in connection with such transaction, whichever is greater, except that such liability shall not exceed \$1,000 on any transaction **and provided that no seller shall be in violation of any provision of this chapter on or before May 1, 1968 and that no action shall be brought for any alleged violation occurring on or before such date.**

Sec. 19. R. S., T. 9, § 3857, sub-§ 1, amended. The 3rd sentence of subsection 1 of section 3857 of Title 9 of the Revised Statutes, as enacted by chapter 471 of the public laws of 1967, is amended to read as follows:

In any such action, no person shall be entitled to recover such penalty ~~solely~~ as the result of ~~erroneous computation~~ **misstatement** of any percentage required by section 3852, subsection 1, paragraph H or section 3852, subsection 2, to be disclosed to such person, if the percentage disclosed to such person pursuant to the chapter was in fact greater than the percentage required by such section to be disclosed or **if, solely as the result of erroneous computation,** the percentage disclosed was not in error by greater than 1% annually computed on the basis of the true interest rate.

Sec. 20. R. S., T. 9, § 3858, additional. Title 9 of the Revised Statutes is amended by adding a new section 3858 to read as follows:

§ 3858. Excluded transactions

This chapter shall not apply to any transaction which is subject to chapters 321 to 327, the Motor Vehicles Sales Finance Act or to chapter 360, the Home Repair Financing Act.

Emergency clause. In view of the emergency cited in the preamble, sections 1, 2, 3, 4, 5 and 6 of this Act shall become effective May 2, 1968. All other sections shall become effective when approved.

Effective January 24, 1968, except sections 1-6 effective May 2, 1968

Chapter 524

AN ACT Amending the Maine Sanitary District Enabling Act.

Emergency preamble. Whereas, Acts of the Legislature do not become effective until 90 days after adjournment of the Legislature unless enacted as emergencies; and

Whereas, residents of unorganized territory are presently unable, under existing legislation, to form sanitary districts and thereby become able to borrow funds and solicit federal and state aid for the construction of sewage treatment and pollution abatement facilities; and